# Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine DigitalCommons@PCOM

PCOM Psychology Dissertations

Student Dissertations, Theses and Papers

2015

# The Development and Tryout of a Program Designed to Increase Students' Multiplication Fact Fluency

Linton D. Williams Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine, linton\_w@me.com

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.pcom.edu/psychology\_dissertations Part of the <u>Child Psychology Commons</u>, <u>Cognitive Psychology Commons</u>, and the <u>Science and</u> <u>Mathematics Education Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Williams, Linton D., "The Development and Tryout of a Program Designed to Increase Students' Multiplication Fact Fluency" (2015). *PCOM Psychology Dissertations*. Paper 354.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Dissertations, Theses and Papers at DigitalCommons@PCOM. It has been accepted for inclusion in PCOM Psychology Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@PCOM. For more information, please contact library@pcom.edu.

The Development and Tryout of a Program Designed to

Increase Students' Multiplication Fact Fluency

Linton D. Williams

Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine

## PHILADELPHIA COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

## **Dissertation Approval**

This is to certify that the thesis presented to us by Linton Williams\_\_\_\_\_

on the \_6\_ day of \_\_June\_\_, 2013, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Psychology, has been examined and is acceptable in both scholarship and literary quality.

Committee Members' Signatures:

George McCloskey, PhD, Chair

Rosemary B Mennuti, EdD, NCSP

Vivian D Ford, PhD

Robert A DiTomasso, PhD, ABPP, Chair, Department of Psychology

# Acknowledgements

I am thankful to God for affording me this opportunity.

First, I dedicate this dissertation to Philip " Poppy " Ford, the only father whom I knew. My deepest gratitude, appreciation, and thanks go to my wife and children for their support and sacrifice. In addition, I am grateful to my mother and godmother for their continued encouragement and belief in my ability to achieve this goal. They all truly inspired, galvanized, and gave me the strength to complete this arduous trek.

I would like to express my appreciation to my committee chair, Dr. George McCloskey, who has shown the attitude and the substance of a genius: he continually and persuasively conveyed a spirit of adventure in regard to research, and an excitement in regard to teaching. Without his supervision and constant help, this dissertation might not have been possible.

#### Abstract

Fluency skills are fundamental to the ability to complete relatively more complex problems using less mental energy. Most math curriculums do not stress the importance of automaticity of math facts. Variations in teaching styles and teaching modality seem to negate the true purpose for cementing and rapidly retrieving math facts. This study put to the test a program that was designed to increase students' ability to retrieve multiplication facts fluently. The program exercised cognitive structures and enabled students to retrieve multiplication facts quickly. The results of a matched-pairs t-test indicated that after the students completed the course of the program, there was a statistically significant different in the students' ability to retrieve multiplication facts accurately and speedily.

# Table of Contents

Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	2
Chapter 2	
Review of the Literature	
Math Curriculum Instruction and Learning	3
Development, Teaching and Learning Mathematic	
Student Learning Styles and Instruction	5
Environmental Factors in Learning Math Concepts	9
Cognitive Processes and Math Concepts	11
Executive Functions and Math Concepts	15
Math Calculation Errors	17
Sex, Cultural Issues, and Mathematics	
Research Questions	
Chapter 3	23
Methods	
Program Review	
Data Source	
Materials Used to Generate the Archived Data	
Design	
Data Analyses	
Chapter 4	25
Results	
Description of the Program	
Results	
Chapter 5	28
Discussion	
Conclusion	
Contributions to the Field of Education and School Psychology	
Limitations	
Future Research	
References	

# List of Tables

## Chapter 1

#### Introduction

According to the report of the National Math Advisory Panel (2008), math scores for American children who attend elementary and secondary school have declined. Although math is considered a universal language there appears to be a gap between males and females in the acquisition of math skills and in enrollment in accelerated courses that require higher math competencies (Reardon and Galindo, 2007). In addition, there appear to be cultural and environmental factors that significantly influence the development of math skills, with socioeconomic status being one of the most prominent of these factors (Reardon and Galindo, 2007 & You, 2010). Nevertheless, even within homogenous cultural and socioeconomic groups the gap between female and male levels of math competency during later school years appears to be widening. This widening of the math competency gender gap seems to be greatly influenced by a societal belief that males are better suited than females for learning math and holding mathrelated jobs (Cheryan, 2012). Additionally, teaching styles appear to have an influence on male and female levels of math skill development (Robinson, Lubienski, & Copur, 2011).

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Math curricula and preferred teaching modalities appear to favor students who already possess rudimentary numeracy skills as they enter formal schooling (Doabler, Cary, Jungjohann, Fien, Baker, Smolkowski & Chard (2012). However, for younger students with inadequate preparation, math instruction and the math curricula used in instruction may hinder progress in acquiring the needed prerequisite numeracy skills. Gaps in curriculum and ineffective teaching methods do not effectively engage or adequately strengthen the cognitive capacities needed to develop math skills (Weast, 2000). Mounting evidence indicates that multiple cognitive capacities including executive functions are needed for children to develop math competency (Osmon, Smerz, Braun, & Plambeck, 2006).

After young students acquire knowledge of basic math facts, the speed and accuracy with which they retrieve these facts needs to be developed. Typically, math curricula and instructional approaches can address the learning needs of most students. In some instances, however, math curricula and teaching methods are not varied enough to effectively reach students with diverse learning styles. As a result, the potential of these students for learning and developing math skills is not realized.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

This study reviewed the literature on math curricula and teaching methods, cognition and student learning styles, socio-economic status and gender in relation to the development of math skills in young children. Research related to the cognitive capacities underlying the development and improvement of math fluency, calculation, and problem-solving skills was used to develop an instructional program that was used to increase the storage and rapid retrieval of math facts. It was hypothesized that if students used the program on a regular basis, math fluency and accuracy would increase.

#### Chapter 2

#### **Review of the Literature**

Basic math skills are necessary to function effectively in most areas of employment today. Math is the cornerstone of innovation and development in technology and science and developing math proficiency is an essential component of all formal education programs (Geary & Hoard, 2001; Light & DeFries, 1995; Rivera-Batiz, 1992). Although the importance of mathematics skill acquisition is widely recognized, much debate remains over the most effective means of helping children acquire math skills. Several factors can hinder effective math instruction and learning and can contribute to delays in learning, understanding, retaining, and retrieving mathematics knowledge. These include ineffective use of teaching modalities, environmental conditions such as economic disadvantage, and the underdevelopment of learners' cognitive capacities. The focus of this literature review is on the early learning and instruction of elementary mathematics; the cognitive constructs involved with learning, retaining, and retrieving basic math facts; the usefulness of music in the teaching and learning of math, and the influence of environmental factors and student gender on math teaching and learning

## Math Curriculum Instruction and Learning

Many school age students begin kindergarten with little or no knowledge of basic numeracy concepts critical to the development of math skills; this is especially true for students who attend public schools in impoverished areas (Lee, Gregg, & Dion, 2007; Rathbun & West, 2004). Despite efforts of the federal government to provide assistance to schools in impoverished areas, the gap between the math achievement of students from affluent communities and students from impoverished communities persists (Agodini, Harris, Atkins-Burnett, Heaviside, Novak, & Murphy, 2009).

#### **Development, Teaching and Learning Mathematic**

Human infant brains seem to have a rudimentary concept of numbers (Antell & Keating 1983, Simon, Hespos, & Rochat 1995; Starkey & Cooper 1980; Starkey, Spelke, & Gelman 1983; Wynn, 1992). Seemingly, infants are aware of differences in quantity. Before they receive formal schooling, infants appear to develop a number sense, which is the "foundation for learning formal math concepts in elementary school" (Jordan, Kaplan, Locuniak, & Ramineni, 2007, p. 38). This concept of numbers may lie in the cognitive groundwork related to counting, number patterns, magnitude comparisons, and estimating and number transformation (Berch, 2005; Dowker, 2005; Lipton & Spelke, 2003). Careful exploration of how teachers exercise students' number sense may provide some insight on how math instruction should be facilitated. Elementary math instruction should encourage students to have a desire to solve more complex math efficiently and to gain math awareness as they move through the elementary school years. The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (2000) stated, "Students become confident in their ability to tackle difficult problems, eager to figure things out on their own, flexible in exploring mathematical ideas in trying alternative paths, and willing to persevere" (para. 5). Thus, math instruction should not be limited to teaching mathematics using formulas, procedures, and tales about mathematics to solve problems in a "single specific way"; instead, a shift in teaching dynamics should focus on teaching math in a manner that draws attention to understanding mathematics.

Students could become active problem solvers and connect problem-solving abilities to their environment in ways of mathematical perceptions (Butler, Beckingham, & Lauscher, 2005; Herrera & Owens, 2002; Maccini & Hughes, 1997; National Council of Teachers of Mathematics [NCTM], 1989; Schifter & Fosnot, 1993). The NCTM (2000) suggested that mastery of number sense is needed before one can develop an understanding of mathematics and may be a prerequisite to numerical competencies such as automaticity, accurate recall of basic math facts, and visual estimate or recognition of the number of items without counting them (Grauberg, 1998; Kelly, 2006; McClain & Cobb, 1999; Salend & Hofstetter, 1996). An important primary goal of math instruction to early learners should include building upon students' number sense and helping the students to understand mathematics; this goal is achieved when instruction allows students to solve math problems using a variety of strategies (Gersten & Chard, 1999). Solving math problems using effective math strategies should increase the students' understanding of math and their ability to automatize math facts, which could lead to an increased ability to perform more complex math problems.

Klein and Bisanz (2000) implied the idea that for a youngster's mathematical knowledge to be learned and retained, it is imperative that he or she have a strong foundation of math-related skills. Thus, exploring the learning and retention of math skills might reveal the relationship between math skills and development. Dynamic instruction increases the speed and accuracy at which students perform basic math and automatizing math facts reflects a student's capacity for retention of visual information, retrieval of visual information and visual memory, and motor integration. Lack of fluent integration of cognitive processes that facilitate math skill acquisition may predict limitations in learning mathematical concepts.

#### **Student Learning Styles and Instruction**

Instruction in math should consider the fact that some students might learn and perform math concepts slowly or differently. For example, some students may need more time to complete math problems because of underdeveloped fluency skills, but the students may still answer math problems accurately (Ramos-Christian, Schleser, & Varn, 2008). Lovett's (1987) findings suggested that some children are able to demonstrate the accuracy component of fluency without the speed component. To strengthen math fluency skills, a combination of procedural math knowledge and a conceptual understanding are needed. These allow the student to go on to develop the basic calculation and problem-solving skills necessary to perform math tasks fluently (Ginsburg, 1998; Hiebert et al., 1997). Research suggests that students with increased skills in rapidly and accurately completing basic math problem experience less math anxiety and are more likely to attempt additional math lessons (Billington & Skinner, 2002; Cates & Rhymer, 2003).

The National Mathematics Advisory Panel (NMAP; 2008) stated that the break between instruction and learning styles in math could be minimized through explicit instruction focused on meaningful interactions, understood math instruction objectives, and a sequence of instruction that promotes an understanding of math. Students are more likely to learn and retain math concepts at a speed based on their needs and progress (Steedly, Dragoo, Arefeh, & Luke, 2008). This approach seems to consider prior learning, attention problems, executive dysfunction, or other cognitive processes that are involved in learning, retaining, and retrieving math.

A significant number of students in grades pre-K to eight continue to be instructed by teachers who may not have the appropriate certification to teach math effectively (Kilpatrick, Swafford, & Findell, 2001). If the effectiveness of learning mathematics is a result of the teacher's knowledge and use of mathematical concepts, students taught by such a teacher are likely to be hindered in their acquisition of math skills. Conversely, if instruction blends mathematical content with effective teaching methods and relates to the student's personal experiences, students are more likely to be facilitated in their acquisition of math skills. Thus,

effective learning depends on the mutual and interdependent interaction of three critical elements: appropriate mathematical content, a teacher with expertise, and engaged learners.

Considering the diversity of student learning styles, such differences in learning style could create a chasm between teaching and learning mathematics. One approach some teachers may take is show and tell, meaning that the teacher will show the students and will tell the students how to complete the math problem, and in turn, the students will show and will tell the teacher that the students can complete the math problem. This method has merit; however, the approach might not encourage teachers to instruct or encourage students to complete math calculation problems speedily and accurately. Some teachers are concerned with math procedures and performance and give little attention to whether or not a student understands and can generalize math concepts to relative meaning or mastery, as mentioned by critics of the U.S. educational system (Kubina & Morrison, 2000), thereby reducing the priority of automaticizing math facts.

Educators have multiple ways to teach mathematics to early learners, but they must consider the following questions: Do the diverse teaching methods take into account students who have significant difficulty with learning math? Does the diversity in teacher styles maximize student learning potential? Undoubtedly, teachers teach basic math algorithms: the question is whether or not the understanding of math and math concepts are taught equally. Often, students do not understand the reasons why they are learning addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division. They know only that they have to perform a learned or taught algorithm. Teachers who understand that teaching mathematics is a complicated task might not recognize that students sometimes need to understand the reasons why they need to perform mathematics.

7

Students who enter school with a foundation of math have an advantage. Understanding how a student as young as 4years of age can learn basic math concepts is one key to instructing students on how to become efficient at math calculations, math fluency, and solving math word problems. The need to exercise particular cognitive processes that correlate with learning and retaining math is essential. The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (2000) stated, "The most direct route to improving mathematics achievement for all students is through better mathematics teaching" (p. 7). Students' success in math reflects the efficacy of the instruction and can be negatively influenced by poor teaching, the design and materials of the curriculum, or both (Wendling & Mather, 2009). Research conducted by Maccini and Gagnon in 2006 concluded that teachers are inadequately prepared to teach math skills because they take few courses and learn few methods for teaching math.

#### Mathematics, Learning, and Curricula

Early learners of math develop a number sense, and if taught well, they might increase the understanding they have. However, early learners of math concepts must automatically and accurately recall numerical skills in order to move to more complicated math. After exploring the prerequisites for proficiently learning math, students' learning styles, and educators' teaching techniques, careful examination should be directed at curricula and implementation. Researchers sponsored by the U.S. Department of Education stated, "Seven math curricula make up 91 percent of the curricula used by K-2 educators and the curricula are based on different theories for developing math skills" (Agodini et al., 2009, p. xvii).

After carefully examining curricula such as Investigation in Numbers; Data and Space; Math Expressions; Saxon Math; Scott Foresman-Addison Wesley Mathematics, and Harcourt Math, the research showed of these all provided a thorough curriculum, although none appeared to focus on increasing math fluency directly or on strategies to increase the speed and recall of math facts. Wendling and Mather (2009) stated, "Some curriculum designs can be especially troublesome for students who struggle with math, including spiraling curriculums, teaching to mastery, and focusing on procedures versus understanding" (p. 168). Because of this phenomenon, supplemental instruction in math could greatly benefit teachers in instructing students in math and could increase the students' knowledge, skill, and desire to learn math.

#### **Environmental Factors in Learning Math Concepts**

Infants seem to have an awareness of magnitude and nearly all seem to develop or have an awareness of numbers (Klibanoff, Levine, Huttenlocher, Vasilyeva, & Hedges, 2006; Wynn, 1992). As with reading literacy, early exposure to numerical competencies may increase math ability; however, several external factors may compromise mastery of math skill. For example, variables within the home environment and school environment could hinder growth in math skills (Carnine, 1991; Mullis, Dossey, Owen, & Phillips, 1991; Russell & Ginsburg, 1984).

During the preschool years, children should develop a sense of the meaning and constancy (i.e., one-to-one correspondence) of numerals. In assessing readiness, tasks eliciting familiarity with number concepts should be taught and children should show the beginnings of counting skills (Levine & Reed, 2001). The cornerstone and foundation of the mathematics domain is the concept of numbers. As the brain integrates with the world, it constructs additional concepts that it represents as mental models in distributed neural networks (Berninger & Richards, 2002).

When considering how a preschooler internalizes math concepts and the mental processes in which the child engages, environmental factors that may increase or decrease the likelihood of learning math are important considerations. Although little or no research has been conducted to support this claim as it relates to math concepts, children seem to have the ability to distinguish, aurally, a number of voices in a room, in contrast to a single voice. The recognition is evident in the child visually scanning the environment and trying to determine the direction from which the voices originate. When only one voice is heard, the child looks in the direction of that one voice. Children also have the ability to recognize, visually, more objects versus fewer objects. The ability to recognize more than and/or less than could be related to brain structures connected to or activating an emotional response; therefore, a child may have an emotional reaction to many voices versus one voice.

Children have the ability to notice increases and decreases in sound. For example, a child may not notice music at a lower volume simply because the lower volume does not cross the auditory threshold. After the music crosses the child's auditory threshold, the child notices and recognizes the music playing. If the music volume increases, the child may react. A relationship appears to be present between an increase and decrease of sound and a baby's response.

Brain systems that prepare children to learn math concepts and brain systems related to emotional responses and the environment also appear to have a relationship. As a result, math concepts such as more than and less than, and an increase versus decrease may develop in the early stages of life, which suggests the environment may have a significant influence on the ability of children to learn math concepts. Hale and Fiorello (2004) determined that some children with mental disorders have significant psychosocial concerns, yet others seem to be well adjusted. The reason for their differential presentation may be environmental, biological, or most likely, some combination of both.

#### **Cognitive Processes and Math Concepts**

Ramos-Christian et al. (2008) stated, "Cognitive abilities as well as math fluency play an important role in mathematical skills, and understanding the relationship between cognitive abilities and mathematical skills is imperative to teaching effective arithmetic skills" (Abstract). Deficits in cognitive processes such as attention and working memory may hinder fluency. Because of the deficits, increased thinking resources are concentrated on attention and working memory for simple processing, which leaves relatively fewer resources for completing or learning more complex tasks. With limited cognitive capacity comes more difficulty with attending, simultaneously multitasking, and encoding information into short-term memory and working memory. Assigning tasks that are short and less complex could allow committing more mental energy to attention and working memory, which could increase fluency (Dahaene, 1997; Delazer et al., 2003; Pellegrino & Goldman, 1987).

Although additional, unknown cognitive processes likely exist that allow individuals to effectively and efficiently complete math calculation, math speed and accuracy, and math word problems, three cognitive processes have been highly researched: (a) information retrieval, (b) working memory, and (c) speed of processing (Bull & Johnston, 1997; Geary, 1990, 1994; Geary, Brown, & Samaranayake, 1991; Hitch & McAuley, 1991; Shafir & Siegel, 1994; Swanson, 1994). In addition, Floyd, Shaver, and McGrew (2003) and McGrew and Hessler (1995) conducted research strongly suggesting a consistent relationship with cognitive ability clusters of comprehension-knowledge, fluid reasoning, and processing speed. Floyd et al. (2003) also noted short-term memory as a strong contributor to math achievement. Likewise, research has linked math achievement with comprehension-knowledge, fluid reasoning, processing speed and short-term memory (Hale, Fiorello, Kavanaugh, Hoeppner, & Gaitherer, 2001; Keith, T. Z. 1999; McGrew, Flanagan, Keith, & Vanderwood, 1997; Williams, McCallum, & Reed, 1996).

Children have to commit counting and one-to-one correspondence to long-term associative memory. Basic math calculations (e.g., subtraction, addition, and multiplication), counting, and answers are paired in working memory. Once the pairing cements quickly and accurately, information is then sent to long-term associative memory. Students have to rely on the retrieval of that information in order to answer basic math problems. Efficiency with counting helps develop this process (Geary et al., 1991; Lemaire & Siegler, 1995). The development of processing speed may contribute to whether or not a student counts quickly or slowly and may determine the rate at which the student can retrieve information; the impact of long- and short-term memory and reading performance are further considerations (Bull & Johnston, 1997; Torgesen, Wagner, & Rashotte, 2001).

When teaching basic mathematical concepts, educators expect students to be fluent and accurate when performing basic mathematical computations. The basic neurological demands required to perform basic mathematics algorithms are complex. Berninger and Richards (2002) stated:

The Computing Brain [math brain] also borrows from the reading brain, for example, in solving word problems in math, and from the writing brain, for example, in using its transcription module (grapho-motor component) to transcribe visual notations for numbers during paper and pencil computation. The Computing Brain also borrows from many non-language brain systems. In the case of the computing brain, however, the construction process carries over to the completely new domain of knowledge, the quantitative domain, in which numbers or quantity is coded. In contrast to the verbal

domain that begins by attaching names to objects, the quantitative domain begins by assigning magnitude or amounts to objects. From this simple beginning, the computing brain develops into an eloquent representational system that can be used to describe, explain, and operate upon the structure of the physical world and solve problems in daily living. . . . Thus, the computing brain is multilingual, in this representational format, drawing on quantitative, visual, motor, verbal, and imaginary colds. Likewise, it draws on many streams of thinking, including quantitative, verbal, and visual spatial. (pp.193-194)

More specifically, psychological processes that are involved with the acquisition of mathematical calculations, word problem, and math fluency skill require a combination of the following Cattell-Horn-Carroll processes, as described by Hale, B. (personal communication, February 2009), in order to perform math algorithms: (a) visual-spatial processing, (b) sequential/short term memory, (c) visual-spatial motor integration, (d) cognitive processing speed, (e) working memory, and (f) executive functions. Mathematical word problems also require a combination of the preceding processes because they includes crystallized intelligence/knowledge and quantitative knowledge.

The interaction between the cognitive processes when completing math computation and math reasoning are as follows: The dorsal stream pathway is primarily responsible for gathering sufficient external sensory information for interpretation. This information allows the somatosensory cortex to make an informed decision on the body movement that is required. The ventral stream, automaticity timing and object processing is activated.

The ventral system carries encoded motor programs in nerve impulses to respond to the interpreted sensory information (Snider, Arthur, Thompson, & LeSage, n.d.); the dorsolateral

prefrontal cortex and direction left, and spatial right are activated. Motor coordination (supplementary motor) and Exner's areas for writing numbers are activated, and primary motor for handwriting number and primary and secondary somatosensory for sensory feedback is active. Word problems that involve a degree of reasoning are carried out first through auditory processing and Wernick's Area for language comprehension; then information travels across the Arcuate Fasciculus, which is a large bundle of nerve fibers that connects Wernick's Area to the Broca's Area (Gorelick & Bowler, 2008) for language expression. Substantial executive demands are put into play (prefrontal cortex), and Exner's and Broca's area are taxed for writing numbers and speaking.

The slow process of algorithms, difficulty in working memory, and flexibility difficulty when sequencing and maintaining information in immediate awareness could be the cause of students having difficulty reading numbers aloud and performing poorly on writing numbers from dictation. Difficulties in the inferior frontal gyrus, which breaks down large numbers into smaller numbers, may be responsible for difficulties in that area. In addition, difficulty with learning and remembering basic math facts and the speed and accuracy of completing basic math facts may be related to challenges in recognizing numbers—symbol association and math computational speed. Presented challenges may be related to difficulties in the typical occipitaltemporal region of the brain, which might affect speed and accuracy and the automatic recognition of numbers in digits.

Students who have difficulty with visual-spatial ability might demonstrate difficulty with visualizing math problems. Visualizing math algorithms is necessary for completing math word problems; however, difficulties may exist in organization, concept formation, attending to math signs for operation, and lining the problem correctly; these might indicate difficulties in the

angular gyrus and thus difficulties with visual pattern recognition of mathematical facts and symbols (Feifer & Defina, 2005; Geary, 1993; Hale & Fiorello, 2004; Von Aster 2000).

#### **Executive Functions and Math Concepts**

For these preceding thinking processes to function effectively when performing math calculation, math fluency, math reasoning, or a combination of all math domains, executive functions have to be engaged. Many of the tasks that children who are entering school for the first time face are completely novel, and as such, may place particularly heavy demands on cognitive processes such as short-term memory, working memory, and executive functioning. The need for supporting cognitive competencies may change as children become more skilled in numerical understanding (Ball, Thames, & Phelps, 2008). Findings of moderate to strong relationships between executive function and mathematics ability in developmental literature are consistent with neurological scientific work, demonstrating an overlap in the neural substrates supporting executive process and numerical ability and quantitative reasoning (Blair & Peters, 1997). The student has to be able to use self-regulatory executive functions in order to complete and retain basic math calculation skills and math reasoning skills.

Self-regulation of executive functions could drive what Piaget (1965) suggested is the foundation of understanding numbers; that is, classification, ordering, and one-to-one correspondence. Classification can be defined as

"The capacity to perceive categorical relationships. . . . It involves the ability to group objects according to specific properties within consistent categories. . . . The capacity to classify develops rapidly between the ages of five and seven and becomes an important contributor to mathematical reasoning. Ordering is the capacity to organize materials in a logical sequence. . . . This is a requisite for the assimilation of numerical concepts and counting."

One-to-one correspondence means that a particular number of objects has fixed values despite the size or nature of the object (Levine, 1999). Executive functions help the brain communicate with different structures and draw on qualitative codes, numerical codes, motor codes, and visual-spatial codes.

To increase automatic and fluent retrieval of multiplication facts is an apparently simple concept. For a student with difficulty in this area, the seemingly simple task of automatic retrieval presses heavily on other cognitive processes that work in concert with processing speed. To retrieve information from long-term storage, the information would have to be crystallized. Thus, the information has to exist before it is recalled. Scholars suspect this may occur in students who have difficulty cementing multiplication facts in long-term memory. For information to be hardened in long-term memory, other cognitive processes have to align with each other, such as attention, short-term memory, working memory, and long-term storage. The information could be recalled from long-term storage. Berg and Hutchinson (2010) explained that processing speed functions as a resource to access basic facts from long-term memory. Therefore, information could be automatically recalled; this could free up mental energy to complete higher-level math. Prifitera, Saklofske, and Weiss (2005) stated the following concerning processing speed:

Although little research exists on this topic, it can be hypothesized that children with processing speed deficits may learn less material in the same amount of time, or take longer to learn the same amount of material, compared to those without processing speed deficits. These

16

children may also mentally be tired more easily because of the additional cognitive effort required to perform a routine task. (p. 27)

Students who process information more slowly might take longer to complete multiplication problems. Geary (1993) implied that processing speed may represent a unique source of difficulty for children with a math disability because these children tend to perform mathematics problems more slowly than do typically developing children. Vukovic and Siegel (2010) suggested that processing speed may interfere with the ability to store and retrieve numerical information from long-term memory, likely through a connection with working memory. Processing speed plays an important role in later grades because the mathematics deficits in the group become more severe.

Some researchers suspect that children with math difficulty have less fluency and retrieval. In this impairment, as implied by Berg and Hutchinson (2010), processing speed challenges relate to accessing information quickly from long-term memory. Findings by Bull and Johnston (1997) suggested that number-fact knowledge is related to processing speed. Slower processing speed might cause problems for students in learning math facts and also for students in retrieving math facts once solidified or encoded in long-term memory. If so, the antithesis might be true. Therefore, increasing processing speed when learning and retrieving multiplication facts could become less effortful and could increase the efficiency in other related cognitive processes, such as increasing the capacity of short-term memory (e.g., Case, 1985).

#### **Math Calculation Errors**

Deficits in cognitive functioning could lead to slower and more inaccurate calculations in simple math problems for early learners. Inaccuracy and/or slow retrieval of math facts, operational procedure errors, and visual-spatial difficulties have been noted within neurological

17

studies (van Lehn, 1982). When looking at slower or inaccurate retrieval of math facts, a student's ability to attend must be a consideration. For example, a student must be able to register, encode, and temporarily store auditory and visual information; rehearse that information, and send it to long-term memory. After the information is stored in long-term memory, the student engages executive function such as retrieval of stored math facts in order to recall math facts accurately and speedily (McCloskey, 1992). Typically, most students who suffer from a specific learning disability in math have difficulty with math fact retrieval (Geary & Brown, 1991). Research suggests that math fact retrieval may also be difficult for young students who do not have a specific learning disability in math fluency for simple calculation may benefit all early learners.

Domahs and Delazer (2005) essentially echoed this same notion, suggesting that difficulty in fluently recalling math facts is not exclusive to students who have a specific learning disability in math fact retrieval. Examining errors in simple calculation could reveal *cognitive strategies*. When learning math facts, younger students rely on manipulatives: for example, students are encouraged to use individual physical objects such as toys, fingers, flash cards, pencil/paper activities, and so on. As younger students develop math fluency, they rely on several strategies to increase rapid and accurate recall of math facts; however, the continued use of particular cognitive strategies may suggest difficulty with speedily and accurately recalling math facts (Geary, Hoard, Byrd-Craven, & DeSoto, 2004). Although the concept is not thoroughly researched, the use of manipulatives likely reduces the demand for the use of visual and auditory short-term/working memory. Using repetition of math facts and using manipulatives should crystallize math facts for quick and accurate recall. Most curricula

introduce manipulatives and do not focus on specific or direct strategies to increase the chances for students who learn differently to speedily retrieve math facts.

Geary, Hoard, Nugent, and Byrd-Craven (2007) revealed that the underdeveloped ability to manipulate mental math facts, operational performance, and speedy and accurate recall of math facts errors exist with most students who suffer from a specific learning disability in math. Examining errors by observing self-correction might give an indication of a student's ability to inhibit impulsive responses. When completing problems, math students can self-monitor their performances and rethink over-learned automatic responses or strategies that may hinder accuracy of math fact retrieval. The ability to inhibit automatic responses or ineffective strategies usually increases for early learners (Espy, 1997; Espy, Kaufmann, McDiarmid, & Glisky, 1999; Levin et al., 1991); however, most curricula do not offer aids to increase selfmonitoring, which in turn could improve the ability of a student who has retrieval difficulties to increase the accuracy of his or her math fact recall.

Visual-spatial difficulty may hinder the speed of written math fact retrieval. Students who have challenges with attention and impulsive behavior may have challenges with visual motor integration (Stevens, Stover, & Backus, 1970; Zentall &Kruczek, 1988). An assignment in which students have to write a math calculation problem and then perform the operation might misalign math problems, which may slow up the student's ability to recall math facts. Students with agitated visual motor skills may benefit from reducing the amount of writing by providing the written calculation and requiring the student to provide only a written answer. Reducing the demand for writing also may increase the speed of processing visual information, thus increasing accuracy. Younger students who are easily distracted, overly energetic, and sub-vocal while performing simple math calculations might be under-aroused. Students may benefit from

increased levels of stimulation while completing basic math calculations, such as music directly related to the math lesson (Radosh & Gittelman, 1981; Zentall, 1993; Zentall & Zentall, 1983).

#### Sex, Cultural Issues, and Mathematics

No concrete information definitively concludes that significant cultural or gender differences negatively affect math performance. Investigation might address the question of how environmental and internal factors such as anxiety affect executive functions, which in turn may have an adverse effect on math performance. For example, students who experience the influence of environmental variables that may create anxiety might suffer from limitations in a taxed executive system when performing math problems. When environmental variables overuse the executive functioning system, students may have difficulty with math calculation and math reasoning. Failure to consider such circumstance could lead to observations based on limited knowledge, creating an over-generalization or an underestimation of different cultures and genders. Technically, researchers have recorded no differences between boys' and girls' math achievements (Woolfolk, 1998).

The specific events in the natural world in which children are raised may significantly influence their roles according to their sex, although math ability does not seems to be influenced by biological makeup (Carr, Steiner, Kyser, & Biddlecomb, 2008; Lachance & Mazzocco, 2006). Some researchers have suggested that as students become older, differences in biological makeup and math performance are readily noticeable (Baenninger & Newcombe, 1995; Hyde, Lindberg, Linn, Ellis, & Williams, 2008). Other researchers have found that Black American girls perform better than Black American boys in high school; however, no difference was found between Asian American boys and girls. Girls performed better on math calculation, reasoning, and conceptual problems, but boys performed more successfully on spatial relation problems (WoolFolk, 1998).

All too familiar is the notion that low-income students, particularly students who attend inner-city schools, are relatively unsuccessful in all academics, specifically math. Several theories and studies have offered every possible reason why inner-city schools perform poorly in math, and most research hovers under the cloud of poverty, race, limited English proficiency, under educated parents, and single-parent families (Natriello, McDill, & Pallas, 1990). The fact that inner-city schools do not have the many needed resources has not been thoroughly researched, although discussion by the academic world seems to consider the situation as a hopeless matter. Academia has, at best, a loosely knit relationship with the inner-city.

#### Conclusion

After young students acquire knowledge of basic math facts, the speed and accuracy with which they retrieve these facts needs to be developed. Typically, math curricula and instructional approaches can address the learning needs of most students. In some instances however, math curricula and teaching methods are not varied enough to reach students with diverse learning styles effectively. As a result, the potential of these students for learning and developing math skills is not realized.

The research related to the cognitive capacities underlying the development and improvement of math fluency, calculation, and problem-solving skills was used to develop an instructional program that was used to increase the storage and rapid retrieval of math multiplication facts.

# **Research Questions**

It was hypothesized that if students used the program on a regular basis, math multiplication fact fluency and accuracy would increase. The steps in the program development process are described and the following research question was addressed through an analysis of archived data collected with students who used the program to work on multiplication fact fluency: Did students who used the multiplication fluency program improve their performances on a timed assessment of multiplication fact fluency?

#### **Chapter 3**

#### Methods

#### **Program Review**

The primary focus of this action-oriented research project was the development of a program that could be utilized as part of math instruction for the purpose of supporting students' development of multiplication math fact fluency. The rationale for program development and the steps in the program development process are described in detail in the result section of this study.

In addition to the development of the program, archived data were accessed and analyzed to determine if students who used the program for six months increased their performances on a standardized multiplication fact math fluency test. The remainder of this chapter describes the data source, the fluency measure used, the study design, and the statistical analysis applied with the archived data,

#### **Data Source**

Archived data gathered on students from a classroom that used the multiplication fluency program as part of math instruction were analyzed for this study. The multiplication fluency program was used as part of math instruction in a 3<sup>th</sup> grade classroom in a suburban public elementary school in the Mid-Atlantic Region of the United States.

#### Materials Used to Generate the Archived Data

Students' math fluency was assessed using the Math Fluency – Multiplication Subtest of the Wechsler Individual Achievement Test – Third Edition (WIAT-III). The WIAT-III Math Fluency – Multiplication Subtest is an individually administered, timed test of basic multiplication fact fluency. The test comprises 40 multiplication math fact items printed in a Response Booklet that is provided to the student. The student is allowed 60 seconds to complete as many of the math fact items as possible.

The WIAT-III Math Fluency – Multiplication Subtest was nationally standardized on a sample of 1,400 children in grades kindergarten through 12. The standardization sample was stratified, based on age, grade, gender, ethnic background, parent educational level, and geographic region; its basis is determined by the U.S. Census data in order to reflect the composition of the U.S. population of school age children. Reliability and validity data are provided in the WIAT-III test manual.

#### Design

The data source was archival data in the form of math multiplication fluency test scores collected prior to the use of the program in math instruction and math multiplication fluency test scores collected four months after initiating the program. The design utilized for analysis of the archived data was a pre-post analysis design.

#### **Data Analyses**

A t-test for matched-pairs was conducted to determine if students' math fluency scores improved after using the program for six months as part of math instruction.

#### **Chapter 4**

#### Results

#### **Description of the Program**

A workbook and CD developed by the writer of this dissertation was used in this study. The math fluency workbook is 153 pages of math calculation problems ranging from the one times table to the twelve times table. It also contains colorful artwork, arrays, instructions, simple multiplication word problems, fluency speed drills, and uncomplicated multiplication calculation problems, with answers provided for self-monitoring. The workbook is designed to increase the fluent and accurate retrieval of multiplication facts and to support the development of math problem-solving skills.

Exercises in the workbook put demands on psychological processes involved in the rapid retrieval of information from long-term storage, visual-spatial processing, short-term memory, auditory-visual-spatial motor integration, cognitive processing speed, self-monitoring, working memory, and executive functions. The program makes use of both auditory and visual input, basic reading comprehension, math reasoning, and self-monitoring. The workbook attempts to improve the fluent, automatic retrieval of answers to simple multiplication problems through repeated visual, auditory, and kinesthetic presentation of basic multiplication facts, including student practice of retrieving these math facts, completing basic multiplication word problems, and self-monitoring of work for accuracy.

The program CD presents multiplication facts spoken rhythmically to beats that are influenced by the hip-hop culture. The CD is designed to heighten student interest, motivation and engagement and to provide instruction through math fact repetition, motivation. The CD was developed to be used in conjunction with the workbook exercises. Although, the workbook and the CD should be used in concert, both can serve as independent instruction tools. The program was designed to enable differentiated instruction; student can be instructed in small or large groups or can works individually on specific facts with which they may be having difficulty.

## Results

A group of 15 third grade students was assessed with the WIAT-III Math Facts – Multiplication Subtest before the start of the program as a daily supplement to the standard math instruction. After four months of daily use of the program, students were re-tested with the WIAT-III Math Facts – Multiplication Subtest. The pre- and post-test scores were analyzed, using a repeated measure t-test. Table 1 shows the pre and post test ages of the students, pre and post test norm-referenced percentile ranks, and pre and post test Growth Value Scores (GVS). See table 1 on p.27.

# Table 1

				Post-			
			Pre-test	test			
		Age at	Growth	Growth	Growth	Pre-test	Post-test
	Age at	Post-	Scale	Scale	Value	Percentile	Percentile
Student	Pre-test	test	Values	Values	Differences	Rank	Rank
1	8-10	9-4	373	611	238	4	75
2	9-11	10-5	373	496	123	1	5
3	8-4	8-10	479	749	270	68	99
4	8-7	9-1	415	719	304	18	98
5	9-2	9-8	415	584	169	5	53
6	9-2	9-8	373	471	98	2	10
7	8-3	8-9	415	663	248	34	97
8	8-5	8-11	373	676	303	8	96
9	9-9	10-3	394	597	203	1	42
10	8-6	9-0	394	690	296	13	97
11	8-8	9-2	373	529	156	4	50
12	9-2	9-8	373	650	277	2	81
13	8-5	8-11	442	548	106	27	73
14	8-4	8-10	373	650	277	8	96
15	9-0	9-6	373	584	211	2	63

Pre and Post Test Data for Students Included in the Program Tryout

A matched-pairs t-test was completed using the pre and post-test growth scaled values to determine whether or not the post-test mean GVS score was statistically different from the pretest mean GVS. The pre-test mean GSV for the 15 students was 395.87 and the post-test mean GSV was 614.47. The mean difference of 218.6 between pre and post GSVs was statistically significant (t = 11.633, df = 14, p <.001.

#### **Chapter 5**

#### Discussion

This research and development project attempted to develop a program to help students increase multiplication math fact fluency. The program CD that was developed made use of music specifically composed and performed for this program and of visual presentations of math exercises similar to those used during classroom instruction to develop math fact fluency. A workbook accompanied the audiovisual program CD and was used to provide additional math fact fluency practice. The program was designed to improve math fluency, enhance selfmonitoring of production, and increase basic math problem-solving.

The program was provided to a school district and a 3<sup>rd</sup> grade classroom teacher used the program for six months with 15 students as a supplement to the standard classroom math instruction. Students' math fluency was assessed prior to the start of the program and student math fluency was assessed again after 6 months of weekly use of the program.

Statistical analysis of pre and post program multiplication math fact fluency scores indicated a statistically significant difference, with post program mean performance significantly better than pre program mean performance. Visual inspection of the data provided in Table 1 in Chapter 4 shows that all but one of the students pre-test math fluency scores were below the  $35^{th}$ percentile, whereas all but three of the students post-test math fluency scores were above the  $50^{th}$ percentile. All students' post-program scores were higher than their pre-program scores. For 12 of the students, norm-referenced score gains were extremely large. Of the 8 students that started the program with performance levels at or below the  $5^{th}$  percentile, all but 2 were able to raise their post-program scores to the  $42^{nd}$  percentile or higher. Even the two students that continued to perform below the 42<sup>nd</sup> percentile showed some growth in their performances at the end of the program trial period.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this project was to develop a program that could be used to engage students in an entertaining and interesting way to help them store and quickly retrieve multiplication math facts. The literature on the cognitive constructs underlying the development of math fluency was used as the basis for developing the program. After development of this program, it was used by a classroom teacher as part of her math instructional routine for six months. Pre and post-program multiplication fluency tests were administered and the results were archived. Permission was obtained to use the archived pre and post-program math fluency scores in an analysis to test for statistical difference between pre and post-program math fluency performance.

The results of the analysis of the archived data from a tryout of the program support the hypothesis that when cognitive capacities underlying the development and improvement of learning math are exercised frequently, using a combination of auditory and visual stimuli, storage of, and retrieval of multiplication facts increases. In this study, all students who used the program improved in the fluent, accurate retrieval of multiplication facts.

#### **Contributions to the Field of Education and School Psychology**

The present outcomes have practical implications for school-based intervention using math fluency instruction. Results of a comparison of pre and post program math fluency skills support the idea that students' math fluency can be increased through practice with a supplemental program. The program developed during this research project may prove to be a very effective tool for increasing students' multiplication math fact fluency skills. Results of this study suggest that school based interventions for special-education students and for students who are not classified with a specific learning disability but who learn math at a slower rate than same-grade peers may benefit from a math curriculum based on a balanced approach to numeracy that includes teaching math facts. Math fluency instruction may increase the speed and efficiency of retention and retrieval of math facts and free up cognitive resources in order to facilitate the completion of more complex math problems. This might prepare students for completing more advanced, complex math problems.

## Limitations

The present study has several important limitations. First, because of the small sample size and the homogenous nature of the sample demographics, the results may not generalize to larger, more diverse samples. Second, the effect of teacher involvement and enthusiasm when administering the program was not directly quantified. A teacher's positive involvement, encouragement and expectations for students who learn differently can foster a very positive atmosphere for learning. The teacher's enthusiasm for and competence with delivering this program was likely to have influenced the results considerably.

Third, the program was designed to be administered in various ways; providing the CD and book to individual students is acceptable, but combining the CD and the book as an interactive unit is considered to be a more effective approach. Combining the book and CD, actively encouraging involvement during group practice, and providing an opportunity for students to take the program home and practice are considered the ideal conditions for maximum efficiency. This study did not examine these different methods for program delivery, so it is not possible to know at this time if differences in the method of program delivery would be factors that differentially influence math fluency performance. Fourth, this study did not make use of a matched-control study design that could demonstrate that using the program with standard math instruction can increase math fluency more successfully than standard math instruction without using the program. It is possible that students' math fluency skills will have increased with standard math instruction and without using the program.

Finally, some aspects of program development may have influenced the program's overall effectiveness. It is possible that the wording of some of the word problems made it difficult for students to understand what they were to do. During development tryouts, the wording and structure of two specific word problems was reported to be confusing to students. An attempt was made to revise these items in order to reduce the complexity of these two word problems. It is possible that other problems contained in the program were also difficult to understand and may need to be revised. Also, because the CD is influenced by the hip-hop culture, teachers may be reluctant to send the program home with students because they may not know how the parents will respond to this fact.

## **Future Research**

Further research might evaluate the effect of implementing this program in the second and/or third tier of Response to Intervention for students who are specifically identified with fluency deficits. Future research that examines this topic likely would benefit from directly studying whether or not increasing math facts fluency improves problem solving, reduces the use of working memory load, and increases processing speed.

Further research might evaluate the effect of implementing this program in the second and/or third tier of Response to Intervention for students who are specifically identified with

fluency deficits. Furthermore, additional research is needed to compare this program with other math fluency based instructional strategies.

## References

- Agodini, R., Harris, B., Atkins-Burnett, S., Heaviside, S., Novak, T., & Murphy, R. (2009). *Achievement effects of four early elementary school math curricula*. Washington, DC:
  National Center for Education Evaluation, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www.mathematica-*mpr.com/.../mathcurricula\_firstgradefind09.pdf*
- Antell, S. E., & Keating, D. P. (1983). Perception of numeric invariance in neonates. *Child Development,* 54, 695-701. doi:10.2307/1130057
- Baenninger, M., & Newcombe, N. (1995). Environmental input to the development of sex related differences in spatial and mathematical ability. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 7, 363-379. doi.org/10.1016/1041-6080(95)90007-1
- Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59, 389-407.
- Berch, D. B. (2005). Making sense of number sense: Implications for children with mathematical disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 38, 333–339. doi.org/10.1177/00222194050380040901
- Berg, D. H., & Hutchinson, N. L. (2010). Cognitive processes that account for mental addition fluency differences between children typically achieving in arithmetic and children at-risk for failure in arithmetic. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 8(1), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/
- Berninger, V. D., & Richards, T. L. (2002). Brain literacy for educators and psychologists. San Diego, CA: Academic Press. doi:10.1016/B978-012092871-2/50012-7

- Billington, E. J., & Skinner, C. H. (2002). Getting students to choose to do more work: Evidence of the effectiveness of the interspersal procedure. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 11, 105-116. doi:10.1023/A:1015431309847
- Blair, C., & Peters, R. R. (1997). Relating effortful control, executive function, and false belief understanding. *Child Development*, 78, 647-663. Retrieved from serendip.brynmawr.edu/exchange/files/effortfulcontrol.pdf
- Bull, R., & Johnston, R. S. (1997). Children's arithmetical difficulties: Contributions from processing speed, item identification, and short term memory. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 65, 1-24. doi.org/10.1006/jecp.1996.2358
- Butler, D. L., Beckingham, B., & Lauscher, H. J. (2005). Promoting strategic learning by eighthgrade students struggling in mathematics: A report of three case studies. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 20(3), 156-174. doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5826.2005.00130.x
- Carnine, D. (1991). Reforming mathematics instruction: The role of curriculum materials. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 1(1), 37–57. doi:10.1007/BF00956753
- Carr, M., Steiner, H. H., Kyser, B., & Biddlecomb, B. (2008). A comparison of predictors of early emerging gender differences in math competency. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 18, 61-75. doi:10.10.1016/j.lindif.2007.04.005

Case, R. (1985). Intellectual development: Birth to adulthood. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.

Cates, G. L., & Rhymer, K. N. (2003). Examining the relationship between mathematics anxiety and mathematics performance: A learning hierarchy perspective. *Journal of Behavioral Education, 12*, 23-34. doi:10.1023/A:1022318321416

- Cheryan, S. (2012). Understanding the paradox in math-related fields: why do some gender gaps remain while others do not?. *Sex Roles*, 66(3/4), 184. doi:10.1007/s11199-011-0060-z
- Dahaene, S. (1997). *The number sense: How the mind creates mathematics*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Delazer, M., Domahs, F., Bartha, L., Brenneis, C., Locky, A., Treib, T., & Benke, T. (2003). Learning complex arithmetic: An fMRI study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 18, 76–88. doi:10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2003.09.005
- Doabler, C. T., Cary, M., Jungjohann, K., Clarke, B., Fien, H., Baker, S., & ... Chard, D. (2012).
   Enhancing core mathematics instruction for students at risk for math disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children, 44*(4), 48-57. Retrieved from https://web.ebscohost.com
- Domahs, F., & Delazer, M. (2005). Some assumptions and facts about arithmetic facts. *Psychology Science*, 47, 96–111. Retrieved from http://www.pabst-publishers/
- Dowker, A. (2005). Individual differences in arithmetic: Implications for psychology, neuroscience, and education. New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Espy, K. A. (1997). The shape school: Assessing executive function in preschool children. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *13*, 495–499. doi:10.1080/87565649709540690
- Espy, K. A., Kaufmann, P. M., McDiarmid, M. D., & Glisky, M. L. (1999). Executive functioning in preschool children: Performance on A-not-B and other delayed response format tasks. *Brain and Cognition*, 41, 179–199. doi:10.1006/brcg.1999.1117
- Feifer, S. G., & Defina, G. A. (2005). Neuropsychology of mathematics. Middletown, MD: School Neuropsych Press.
- Floyd, R. G., Shaver, R. B., & McGrew, K. S. (2003). Interpretation of the Woodcock–Johnson III Tests of Cognitive Abilities: Acting on evidence. In F. A. Schrank & D. P. Flanagan (Eds.),

*WJ III clinical use and interpretation* (pp. 1–46). New York, NY: Academic Press. doi10.1016/B978-012628982-4/50016/7

- Geary, D. C. (1990). A componential analysis of an early learning deficit in mathematics. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 49, 363–383. doi:10.1016/0022-0965(90)90065-G
- Geary, D. C. (1993). Mathematical disabilities: Cognitive, neuropsychological, and genetic components. *Psychological Bulletin*, *114*, 345–362. doi:10.1037//0033-2909.114.2.345
- Geary, D. C. (1994). *Children's mathematical development: Research and practical applications*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Geary, D. C., & Brown, S. C. (1991). Cognitive addition: Strategy choice and speed-of-processing differences in gifted, normal, and mathematically disabled children. *Developmental Psychology*, 27, 398-406. doi:10.1037//0012-1649.27.3.398
- Geary, D. C., Brown, S. C., & Samaranayake, V. A. (1991). Cognitive addition: A short longitudinal study of strategy choice and speed of processing differences in normal and mathematically disabled children. *Developmental Psychology*, 27, 787-797. doi:10.1037//0012-1649.27.5.787
- Geary, D. C., & Hoard, M. K. (2001). Numerical and arithmetical weaknesses in learning-disabled children: Relation to dyscalculia and dyslexia *Aphasiology*, *15*, 635–647. doi:10.1080/02687040143000113
- Geary, D. C., Hoard, M. K., Nugent, L., & Byrd-Craven, J. (2005). Strategy use and working memory capacity. In D. B. Berch & M. M. M. Mazzocco (Eds.), *Children's mathematical learning: Difficulties and disabilities*. Baltimore, MD: Brookes. doi:10.1177/00222194050380040901

- Geary, D. C., Nugent, L., Hoard, M. K., & Byrd-Craven, J. (2007). Strategy use, long- term memory, and working memory capacity. In D. B. Berch & M. M. M. Mazzocco (Eds.), Why is math so hard for some children? The nature and origins of mathematical learning difficulties and disabilities (pp. 83-105). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Gersten, R., & Chard, D. (1999). Number sense: Rethinking arithmetic instruction for students with mathematical disabilities. *Journal of Special Education*, 33(1), 18-29. doi:10.1177/002246699903300102
- Ginsburg, H. P. (1998). Mathematics learning disabilities: A view from developmental psychology.In D. P. Rivera (Ed.), *Mathematics education for students with learning disabilities: Theory to practice* (pp. 33-58). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Gorelick, P. B., & Bowler, J. V. (2008). Advances in Vascular Cognitive Impairment 2007. *Journal* of the American Heart Association, 39, 279-282. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.509570

Grauberg, E. (1998). Elementary mathematics and language difficulties. London, England: Whurr.

- Hale, J. B., & Fiorello, C. A. (2004). School neuropsychology: A practitioner's handbook. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Hale, J. B., Fiorello, C. A., Kavanagh, J. A., Hoeppner, J. B., & Gaitherer, R. A. (2001). WISC-III predictors of academic achievement for children with learning disabilities. Are global and factor scores comparable? *School Psychology Quarterly*, *16*(1), 31-35. doi:10.1521/scpq.16.1.31.19158
- Hiebert, J., Carpenter, T., Fennema, E., Fuson, K., Murray, H., Olive, A. . . . Wearne, D. (1997).*Designing classrooms for learning mathematics with understanding*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.

- Herrera, T. A., & Owens, D. T. (2001). The new new math? Two reform movements in mathematics education. *Theory into Practice*, 40(2), 84-92. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip4002\_2
- Hyde, J. S., Lindberg, S. M., Linn, M. C., Ellis, A. B., & Williams, C. C. (2008). Diversity: Gender similarities characterize math performance. *Science*, 321, 494-495. doi:10.1126/science.1160364
- Jordan, N. C., Hanich, L. B., & Kaplan, D. (2003). Arithmetic fact mastery in young children: A longitudinal investigation. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 85, 103–119. doi10.1016/S0022-0965(03)00032-8
- Jordan, N. C., Kaplan, D., Locuniak, M. H., & Ramineni, C. (2007). Predicting first grade math achievement from developmental number sense trajectories. *Learning Disabilities: Research and Practice, 21*, 37-37. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2007.00229.x
- Keith, T. Z. (1999). Effects of general and specific abilities on student achievement: Similarities and differences across ethnic groups. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *14*, 239–262. doi:10.1037/h0089008
- Kelly, C. (2006). Using mathematical problem solving: A performance-based analysis. *The Montana Mathematics Enthusiast*, 3(2), 184-193. Retrieved from http://www.infoagepub.com/products/journals/TMME/TMMEvol3no2 2006.pdf
- Klein, J. S., & Bisanz, J. (2000). Preschoolers doing arithmetic: The concepts are willing but the working memory is weak. *Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 54, 105-116. doi:10.1037/h0087333
- Klibanoff, R. S., Levine, S. C., Huttenlocher, J., Vasilyeva, M., & Hedges, L. V. (2006). Preschool children's mathematical knowledge: The effect of teacher "math talk." *Developmental Psychology*, 42(1), 59–69. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.42.1.59

- Kilpatrick, J., Swafford, J., & Findell, B. (2001). Adding it up: Helping children learn mathematics.Washington, DC: National Academy Press
- Kubina, R. M., & Morrison, R. (2000). Fluency in education. *Behavioral and Social Issues*, 10, 83-99. Retrieved from http://www.fluency.org/Kubina\_Fluency\_Ed.pdf
- Lachance, J. A., & Mazzocco, M. M. M. (2006). A longitudinal analysis of sex differences in math and spatial skills in primary school age children. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 16, 195-216. doi:10.1016/j.lindif.2005.12.001
- Lee, J., Grigg, W., & Dion, G. (2007). *The nation's report card: Mathematics 2007* (NCES 2007–494). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.
- Levin, H. S., Culhane, K. A., Hartmann, J., Evankovich, K., Mattson, A. J., Harward, H. . . .
  Fletcher, J. M. (1991). Developmental changes in performance on tests of purported frontal lobe functioning. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, *7*, 21–31. doi:10.1080/87565649109540499
- Levine, M. D. (1999). *Developmental variation and learning disorders*. Cambridge, MA: Educators Publishing Service.
- Levine, M. D., & Reed, M. (2001). *Developmental variation and learning disorders*. Cambridge, MA: Educators Publishing Services.

Light, J. G., & DeFries, J. C. (1995). Comorbidity of reading and mathematics disabilities: Genetic and environmental etiologies. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 28, 96–106. doi:10.1177/002221949502800204

Lipton, J. S., & Spelke, E. S. (2003). Origins of number sense: Large-number discrimination in human infants. *Psychological Science*, *14*, 396–401. doi:10.1111/1467-9280.01453

- Lovett, M. W. (1987). A developmental approach to reading disability: Accuracy and speed criteria of normal and deficient reading skill. *Child Development*, *58*, 234–260. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.1987.tb03503.x Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/
- Lemaire, P., & Siegler, R. S. (1995). Four aspects of strategic change: Contributions to children's learning of multiplication. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 124(1), 83-97. doi:10.1037//0096-3445.124.1.83
- Maccini, P., & Gagnon, J. C. (2006). Instructional practices and assessment accommodations by secondary special and general educators. *Exceptional Children*, 72, 217-234. Retrieved from http://www.freepatentsonline.com/article/Exceptional-Children/140707289.html
- Maccini, P., & Hughes, C. A. (1997). Mathematics intervention for adolescents with LD. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, *12*, 168-176. doi:10.1207/s15327035ex1401\_5
- McClain, K., & Cobb, P. (1999). Patterning and partitioning: Early number sense concepts. In J.Copley (Ed.), *Mathematics in the early years* (pp. 112-118). Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- McCloskey, M. (1992). Cognitive mechanisms in numerical processing: Evidence from acquired dyscalculia. *Cognition*, 44, 107-157. doi:10.1016/0010-0277(92)90052-J
- McGrew, K. S. (2004, January 15). *Carroll Human Cognitive Abilities Project*. Retrieved May 15, 2009, from Cattell-Horn-Carroll CHC Definition Project: http://www.iapsych.com/chcdef.htm
- McGrew, K. S., Flanagan, D. P., Keith, T. Z., & Vanderwood, M. (1997). Beyond g: The impact of *Gf-Gc* specific cognitive abilities research on the future use and interpretation of intelligence tests in the schools. *School Psychology Review*, *26*, 177-189.

- McGrew, K. S., & Hessler, G. L. (1995). The relationship between the WJ-R Gf-Gc cognitive clusters and mathematics achievement across the life span. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 13, 21–38. doi:10.1177/073428299501300102
- Mullis, I. V. S., Dossey, J. A., Owen, E. H., & Phillips, G. W. (1991). The state of mathematics achievement: NAEP's 1990 assessment of the nation and the trial assessment of the states (NCES 911050). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- Osmon, D. C., Smerz, J. M., Braun, M. M., & Plambeck, E. (2006). Processing Abilities Associated with Math Skills in Adult Learning Disability. Journal Of Clinical & Experimental Neuropsychology, 28(1), 84-95. doi:10.1080/13803390490918129
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (1989). *Curriculum and evaluation standards for school mathematics*. Reston, VA: Author.
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2000). *Principles and standards for school mathematics*. Reston, VA: Author.
- National Mathematics Advisory Panel. (2008). *Foundations for success: The final report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel*. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Education: http://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/mathpanel/report/final-report.pdf
- Natriello, G., McDill, E. L., & Pallas, A. M. (1990). *Schooling disadvantaged children: Racing against catastrophe*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. doi:10.1300/J008v05n3\_10
- Pellegrino, J. W., & Goldman, S. R. (1987). Information processing and elementary mathematics. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 20, 23–32, 57. doi:10.1177/002221948702000105
- Piaget, J. (1965). The child's conception of number. New York, NY: Norton.
- Prifitera, A., Saklofske, D., & Weiss, L. (Eds.). (2005). WISC-IV: Clinical use and interpretation: Scientist-practitioner perspectives. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

- Radosh, A., & Gittelman, R. (1981). The effect of appealing distractors on the performance of hyperactive children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *9*, 179-189. doi:10.1007/BF00919113
- Ramos-Christian, V., Schleser, R., & Varn, M. E. (2008). Math fluency: Accuracy versus speed in preoperational and concrete operational first and second grade children. *Early Childhood Education Journal, 35*, 543-549. doi:10.1007/s10643-008-0234-7
- Rathbun, A., & West, J. (2004). From kindergarten through third grade: Children's beginning school experiences. (NCES 2004-007). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education.
- Reardon, S. F., & Galindo, C. (2007). Patterns of Hispanic students' math skill proficiency in the early elementary grades. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 6(3), 229-251. doi:10.1080/15348430701312883
- Rivera-Batiz, F. L. (1992). Quantitative literacy and the likelihood of employment among young adults in the United States. *Journal of Human Resources*, *27*, 313–328. doi:10.2307/145737
- Robinson, J. P., Lubienski, S. T., Copur, Y., & Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness, (2011). The effects of teachers' gender-stereotypical expectations on the development of the math gender gap. *Society for Research On Educational Effectiveness*, Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED528920
- Russell, R. L., & Ginsburg, H. P. (1984). Cognitive analysis of children's mathematical difficulties. *Cognition and Instruction*, *1*, 217–244. doi:10.1207/s1532690xci0102\_3
- Salend, S., & Hofstetter, E. (1996). Adapting a problem solving approach to teaching Mathematics to students with mild disabilities. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *31*(4), 209-217. doi:10.1177/105345129603100403

- Schifter, D., & Fosnot, C. T. (1993). *Reconstructing mathematic education: Stories of teachers meeting the challenges of reform*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Simon, T. J., Hespos, S. J., & Rochat, P. (1995). Do infants understand simple arithmetic? A replication of Wynn (1992). *Cognitive Development*, 14, 1-36. doi:10.1016/0885-2014(95)90011-X
- Snider, B., Arthur, S., Thompson, D., & LeSage, M. (n.d.). *The Dorsal Stream*. Retrieved May 15, 2009, from The Dorsal Stream: http://ahsmail.uwaterloo.ca/kin356/dorsal/dorsal.htm
- Starkey, P., & Cooper, R. G. (1980). Perception of numbers by human infants. *Science*, *210*(4473), 1033-1035. doi:10.1126/science.7434014
- Starkey, P., Spelke, E. S., & Gelman, R. (1983). Detection of intermodal numerical correspondences by human infants. *Science*, 222(4620), 179-181. doi:10.1126/science.6623069
- Steedly, K., Dragoo, K., Arefeh, S., & Luke, S. D. (2008). *Effective mathematics instruction*. *Evidence for Education*, *3*, 1-11.Retrieved from National Dissemination Center for Children with Disabilities: http://nichcy.org/research/ee/math
- Stevens, D. A., Stover, C. E., & Backus, J. T. (1970). The hyperkinetic child: Effect of incentives on the speed of rapid tapping. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 34, 56–59. doi:10.1037/h0028800
- Sutton, J., & Krueger, A. (2002). *EDThoughts: What we know about mathematics teaching and learning*. Aurora, CO: Mid-Continent Research for Education and Learning
- Torgesen, J. K., Wagner, R. K., & Rashotte, C. A. (2001). *Comprehensive Test of Phonological Processing*. Austin, TX: Pro-ED.

- van Lehn, K. (1982). Bugs are not enough: Empirical studies of bugs, impasses, and repairs in procedural skills. *Journal of Mathematical Behavior*, *3*, 3–71. Retrieved from http://www.public.asu.edu/~kvanlehn/Stringent/PDF/BugsAreNotEnough1982.pdf
- von Aster, M. (2000). Developmental cognitive neuropsychology of number processing and calculation: Varieties of developmental dyscalculia. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 9(S2), S41–S57. doi:10.1007/s007870070008
- Vukovic, R. K., & Siegel, L.S. (2010). Academic and cognitive characteristics of persistent mathematics difficulty from first through fourth grade. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 25(1), 1-58. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2009.00298.x
- Weast, J. D., & Montgomery County Public Schools, R. D. (2000). Studies of mathematics instruction and curriculum: *Implications for the Future*. Discussion 4.0. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED449036
- Wendling, B., & Mather, N. (2000). Essentials of *evidence-based academic interventions*. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Williams, P. C., McCallum, R. S., & Reed, M. T. (1996). Predictive validity of the Cattell-Horn Gf-Gc constructs to achievement. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, *3*, 43–51. doi:10.1177/107319119600300105

Woolfolk, A. E. (1998). Educational psychology (3rd ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

- Wynn, K. (1992). Addition and subtraction by human infants. *Nature*, 27, 749–750. doi:10.1038/358749a0
- You, Z. (2010). Gender differences in mathematics learning. *School Science and Mathematics*, *110*(3), 115-117. doi:10.1111/j.1949-8594.2010.00028.x

- Zentall, S. S., & Kruczek, T. (1988). The attraction of color for active attention-problem children. *Exceptional Children, 54*, 357–362. Retrieved from http://www.questia.com/
- Zentall, S. S. (1993). Research on the educational implications of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Exceptional Children*, *60*, 143-153. Retrieved from http://www.questia.com/
- Zentall, S. S., & Zentall, T. R. (1983). Optimal stimulation: A model of disordered activity and performance in normal and deviant children. *Psychological Bulletin*, 94, 446–471. doi:10.1037//0033-2909.94.3.446